
UNITED NATIONS 1779th meeting 

(~~ ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL Thursday, 8 July 1971 

at 3.5 p.m. - FIFTY-FIRST SESSION 

Oiill7~ OFFICIAL RECORDS 

CONTENTS 

Agenda Item 2: 
General discussion of international economic and social 

policy (continued) 

Speakers: 

Page 

Mr. Angelov Todorov (Observer for CMEA) . . . . . . . . 51 
Mr. Hill (ICC) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 52 
Mr. Hambro (Norway) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 53 
Mr. M1heu (Unesco) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 54 
Mr. Odero-Jowi (Kenya) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 56 
Mr. Szarka (Hungary) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57 
Mr. Zakaria (Malaysia) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 58 
Mr. Kitahara (Observer for Japan) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 59 
Mrs. Alami CWIDF)........................ . . . 60 

President: Mr. DRISS (Tunisia) 

AGENDA ITEM 2 

General discussion of international economic and social 
policy (continued) [E/4942, E/4984, chap. III; E/5004, 
E/5005, E/5007, E/5009, E/5010, E/5016, E/C.2/726] 

1. Mr. ANGELOV TODOROV (Observer for the Council 
for Mutual Economic Assistance), speaking at the invitation 
of the President, said that international co-operation was 
playing an increasingly important part in the solution of 
economic and social problems and th~t CMEA was there­
fore foHowing the work of the Economic and Social 
Council and other United Nations organs closely. The 
CMEA secretariat thought that its own experience might be 
very instructive for the meP1bers of the Economic and 
Social Council and the regional economic commissions. 

2. During the last five-year period (1966-1970), the 
economic potential of the countries members of CMEA and 
their economic and social relations with the other regions 
of the world had developed. In a numb:-r of sectors, the 
growth rate had speeded up and the national income of the 
countries as a whole had risen by 7.3 per cent annually 
compared with 6.1 per cent during the 1961-1965 period. 
The period 1966-1970 had been characterized by a striking 
expansion of 50 per cent in industrial production and a 
more moderate growth of 20 per cent in agricultural 
production. Those figures were indicative of the pre­
eminent p~11t played by industry in the economy of the 
CMEA countries. Qualitative changes had taken place in the 
structures of industry. There had been growth in industries 
in various sectors such as electronics, chemical products and 
machinery. There had also been an improvement in the 
standard of living and a 30 per cent increase in real per 
capita income in the countries as a whole. The acceleration 

51 

P ALAIS DES NATIONS, GENEVA 

of the growth rate had been due maL"Jy to the measures 
adopted by those countries to increase their possibilities of 
co-operation within CMEA itself. He said that he was 
circulating detailed information about CMEA activities 
in 1970. 

3. The principal objective for the period 1971-1975 was a 
further raising of the standard of living and a rational 
expansion of the economy based on co-operation among 
the member countries. The problem of economic co­
ordination had been studied at the twenty-third session of 
CMEA, at which the broad lines of socialist economic 
integration - which was the main form of co-operation 
among the members of CMEA - had been mapped out. 
Increasingly close and continued collaboration was envis­
aged for the years 1971-197 5 in order to co-ordinate both 
bilateral an j multilateral plans more effectively. Such 
co-ordination would also make it possible to study econ­
omic development trends. The members of CMEA pro­
jected high rates of economic growth for 1971-1975. As a 
result of the co-ordination of plans, the CMEA countries 
had concluded long-teim trade agreements for 1971-1975. 
Under those agreements, their trade would increase by 
about 50 per cent. Intra-area trade would show he growing 
proportion of manufactures, including machinery and 
equipment, the specific share of which reached 40 per cent 
in 1970. He considered that the planned-economy system 
within which that progress was taking place was a stabiliz­
ing and stimulating factor which promoted the develop­
ment of the member States. In questions of trade, the 
members of CMEA had great experience in the matter of 
long-term agreements which could be of value to the 
developing countries. 

4. He drew attention to the fact that for assessing the 
growth of the CMEA countries' foreign trade it was 
necessary to take into account, besides the increase in trade 
envisaged by long-Lerm trade agreements, the increases in 
commodity exchanges under annual protocols and other 
agreements. As such long-term trade agreements covered 
only the main lines of trade and did not reflect it as a 
whole, deliveries made under annual protocols had to be 
taken into account as well. Consequently, the section 
devoted to the USSR and the socialist countries of Eastern 
Europe in the summary of the Economic Sun'ey ofEurope 
in 1970 (E/5007) did not give an accurate picture of the 
foreign-trade prospects of the countries members of CMEA. 

5. Representatives of the CMEA secretariat had often had 
occasion to inform the Economic and Social Council of 
planned measures for the development of socialist eccn~ 
omic integration, which, being a systematically regulated 
process in the international socialist division of labour, had 
as its aim to bring the member countries closer together to 
form an up-to-date and highly effective structure of 

E/SR.1779 



52 Economic and Social Council -· Fifty-first session 

national economies, to develop profound and stable ties in 
all major sectors of the national economy, science and 
technology, and to promote the expansion and ~onsoli­
dation of those countries' international market~;. It had 
recently been decided that CMEA should he ~ailed upon 
regularly to consider a complete draft pn mme for the 
further growth and improvement of co-oper,, in11 and the 
development of socialist economic inte~J 'nn which consti­
tuted a strategy for the development ut mtra-area econ­
omic, scientific and technical ties in the long-term future. 
He said that the CMEA Executive f'ommittee had recently 
decided to submit the draft comprehensive programme for 
consideration at a regular C'MEA session. 
6. In promoting that process of co-operation and inte­
gration, the member countries were not concerned solely 
with strengthening their mutual relations but also with 
strengthening the already solid ties that they had estab­
lished with the developing countries, founded on respect 
for the sovereignty of national interests and in accordance 
with the principle of mutual advantage. CMEA countries 
were systematicaHy developing co-operat,on with devel­
oping countries in scope and depth. At present, the CMEA 
countries' economic and technical assistance went into the 
construction of over 2,500 industrial and other projects in 
more than 60 developing countries. More than half of those 
projects were in the field of heavy industry, and in 1970 
the CMEA countries had concluded more than a hundred 
aid and trade agreements with those countries. During the 
last decade, trade between the CMEA countries and the 
developing countries had increased by more than 200 per 
cent, while intra-regional trade had increased only 130 per 
cent. 
7. For some years it had been apparent that closer 
economic ties were developing between the CMEA coun­
tries and the industrialized countries, which made for a 
better understanding of their problems and for a relaxation 
of tension at the international level. 
8. He agreed with the Secretary-General's view that the 
United '\lations should be of a universal nature and thought 
that it~ ·niversality would undoubtedly contribute to the 
succes~J (••Iii the Economic and Social Council's work. In that 
connexion, he had to regret the fact that the German 
Democratic Republic had still no possibility of participating 
in the activities of ECE with all the rights of a full member. 
9. In conclusion, he said that the CMEA secretariat 
collaborated with numerous United Nations bodies, includ­
ing UNESCO, F AO, the regional economic commissions 
and UNIDO, and hoped by so doing to promote inter­
national co-operation. 

10. Mr. HILL (International Chamber of Commerce), 
speaking at the invitation of the President, said that 
relations between the United Natiom and ICC were 
constantly developing. In particular, a dialogue was success­
fully continuing in the ICC/United Nations/GAIT/ 
Economic Consultative Committee between the heads of 
the intergovernmental agencies dealing with economic 
questions and a representative group of businessmen from 
all parts of the world. At its second session, in December 
1970, the Consultative Committee had discussed, among 

other things, the climate for private international invest· 
ment and development aid, concentrating in particular on 
propos:.lls to link the IMF system of SDRs with devel­
opment aid programmes. At its third session, to be held in 
December 1971, the Committee would focus its attention 
on the transfer of technology and the problems of 
environment. 
11. ICC had n~cently concentrated on three important 
issues. The first was the transfer of technology, on which a 
Special Committee of ICC was preparing a report which 
would make it easier to judge the extent to which direct 
private investment was stimulating economic growth 
through the spread of technological and managerial skills. 
Ways must be sought to ensure that the whole world could 
benefit more quickly from modern developments in 
science, technology, and business methods. 
12. The second important question was that of the 
financial operations of international companies. ICC 
planned to publish a factual report on the subject early in 
1972. Governments and companies could not take satisfac­
tory decisions if they were inadequately informed, as was 
the case with regard to the financial operations of inter· 
national companies. Speaking at the recent ICC Congress 
(Vienna, April-May 1971 ), the Under-Secretary-General for 
Economic and Social Affairs had referred to the increas­
ingly realistic dialogue initiated under the auspices of the 
United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs 
between international investors and the Governments of 
countries acting as host to them. ICC was glad to be in a 
position to co-operate with the United Nations in organ­
izing investment panels to provide opportunities for such a 
dialogue. 
13. The third question of concern to ICC was the 
desirability of drawing up an internationally agreed code of 
behaviour for international corporations. ICC favoured a 
more flexible and possibly more realistic system, which 
would consist in providing guidelines for the relationship 
between international investors, the Governments .of their 
home countries and the Governments of the countries in 
which they invested. ICC was at present drawing up 
puidelines which would be comprehensive in that they 
would deal with all financial, fiscal, administrative, com· 
mercial or legal problems that might arise and would 
propose a complex of recommendations to the three parties 
involved which, if followed, would lay the basjs for a 
mutually acceptable relationship that would be conducive 
to economic development. 
14. The ICC Congress had had two main themes: the 
environment and trade liberalization. On the subject of the 
environment, the Co11gress had considered that the general 
objective to be pursued by Governments, by industry and 
by the scientific community should be the rational and 
harmonious utilization of human and material resources 
throughout the world, and had welcomed the decision by 
the United Nations to convene in 1972 at Stockholm a 
Conference on the Human Environment, which could be 
expected to pave the way for the solution of environmental 
problems through international co-operation. The need for 
permanent co-operation between ICC and the United 
Nations in that field, which had been stressed at the 



1779th meeting - 8 July 1971 53 

Congress, had subsequently been translated into fact, since 
ICC was arranging to appoint some ten industrialists to 
serve on the committee of consultants which was to assist 
in the preparations for the Stockholm conference. Those 
industrialists might, in effect, form the nucleus of a 
committee which IC'C intended to establish to follow up 
the recommendations which it had adopted at Vienna on 
such problems as the use of natural resources, the striking 
of a proper balance between economic advance and the 
social cost of economic and technical progress, co-operation 
between Governments and industry, the organization of 
research and the application of technology in the devel­
oping countries. 

15. With regard to trade liberalization the second major 
theme discussed by the Congress the programme recently 
adopted by the ICC' Council provided for the progressive 
elimination of tariffs on manufactured goods, new agree­
ments for the elimination of non-tariff obstacles to trade in 
manufactured goods and the adoption of protective 
measures against factors distorting free competition, a 
programme for the liberalization of tmdc in agricultural 
products, measures in favour of the developing countries 
and praetical measures to promote the harmonization of 
economic and monetary policies in the developed countries. 
After many years of inaction in the field of commercial 
policy, there were signs that the political will to resume 
negotiations existed, so that the ICC' programme for trade 
liberalization was timely. 

16. Again on the subject of trade, ICC' was currently 
co-operating with United Nations regional bodies on two 
important issues. Firstly, in collaboration with EC'E, it was 
seeking ways of overcoming the obstacles hampering 
East-West trade. At the request of the Executive Secretary 
of ECE, the IC'C' Liaison Committee and the chambers of 
commerce of the socialist countries had launched an 
inquiry into the difficulties encountered by exporters and 
importers in the market-economy countries and the 
sociaiist-economy countries of Europe: the results of the 
inquiry would be available in November. Parallel to that 
survey, IC'C had been represented at the preparatory 
meeting for the Seminar on East-West Trade Promotion, 
Marketing and Business Contacts. Lastly, at the suggestion 
of the Secretariat of EC AFE, IC'C was obtaining the views 
of exhibitors and trade buyers who had attended the 
second International Fair at Teheran, with a view to making 
preparations for the third Asian International Trade Fair to 
be held at New Delhi in 1972. 

17. During the past year, IC'C' had devoted much of its 
time to studyir.~, the problems of the developing countries, 
and had prepared three reports of direct interest to the 
Council. In the first, 1 ICC analysed the respective and 
complementary roles that public finance and private capital 
should play in developing countries and urged Governments 
of capital-exporting and capital-importing countries to 
design their policies accordingly. 

1 ICC, Public Aid and Prh•ate Capital in Develt.,ping Countries 
(Paris, 1971), brochure 269. 

18. The second document2 was devoted to bilateral 
treaties for the encouragement of private international 
investment in developing countries. That technique, which 
was being used increasingly, in particular by the Federal 
Republic of Germany and by Switzerland, offered advan­
tages which were set forth in a United Nations Secretariat 
report entitled Foreign Investment in Developing Coun· 
tries. 3 In its report, ICC' recommended organizations in the 
United Nations system to propagate the conclusion of 
bilateral investment agreements and suggested, in particular, 
that IBRD might organize regional meetings on the subject 
and assist Governments in drawing up such agreements. 
19. The third report4 dealt with tax treaties between 
developed and developing countries and t·.x incentives in 
developing countries. The recommendations made by ICC' 
aimed at ensuring that tax policies in both developed and 
developing countries were such as to permit direct private 
investment to make the maximum contribution to econ­
omic growth. 
20. While IC'C' attached great importance to its co­
operation with United Nations bodies, it did not think that 
such contacts should be confined to discussion of the broad 
principles of economic policy or to fragmented co­
operation without any over-all guiding principles in 
common. ICC' and the United Nations should establish a 
common objective towards which they could work more 
effectively together than separately and should participate 
in the continuing dialogue which should be established 
during the Second United Nations Development Decade. 

21. Mr. HAMBRO (Norway) said that his remarks would 
concern mainly the questions dealt with under agenda items 
3(a}and 17. 
22. I lis delegation considered that it was necessary to 
strengthen the Economic and Social Council, which was the 
main co-ordinating and policy-making organ in the field of 
economic and social development, so that it could grapple 
with the formidable problems of the Second Development 
Decade. He agreed with the representative of Yugoslavia 
that the Council should submit assessments of the world 
economic situation and guide all other organs so that their 
sectoral activities would complement each other and help 
to solve the problems which the Council designated as 
having top priority on a global scale. 

23. The draft resolution submitted by Greece and New 
Zealand (E/L.l408/Rev.l) offered a good basis for a 
decision with regard to the improvements to be made in the 
organization of the work of the Council. He thought, 
however, that some structural changes were also required. 
24. In the first place, his Government favoured the 
enlargement of the Council. It considered that that 
question was closely linked with the quer;tion of the review 
and appraisal machinery for the Second Development 

2 ICC, Bilateral Treaties for the Encouragement o[ International 
Prh•ate Investment (Paris, 1970), brochure 266. 

3 United Nations publication, Sales No.: E.68.II.D.2. 
4 ICC, Tax Policies and Developing Countries (Paris, 1971). 

brochure 26 7. 





1779th meeting - 8 July 1971 55 

accept a collective discipline for the universal application of 
rational solutions. On the other hand, it would be regret­
table and unacceptable if they gave rise to Malthusian 
attitudes in developed countries with regard to the problem 
of persistent under-development for two-thirds of Im­
munity. It was urgent, on the contrary, to re-organize 
international relations on the basis of a universal diffusion 
of knowledge and a rational revision of the terms of trade 
and of utilization of resources. That was the best means for 
the industrialized countries to correct the acceleration and 
the excesses of the process which had led to their dilemma 
and also to avoid the dangers of aggravation of persistent 
injustice. The problem of development was, after all, a 
problem of justice, which was an essential element of the 
concept of quality of life. 
33. That transformation of the concept of development 
which was a rude awakening on the part of society 
explained the growing importance assumed by education, 
science and culture in development policies. The expansion 
of education was particularly marked in the developing 
countries, where the impetus of the 1960s, stimulated in 
many cases by the recent attainment of independence, was 
being continued and intensified as a result of often heroic 
efforts. It had thus been possible to observe, at regional 
confeJ:cnces of ministers of education organized period­
ically by UNESCO, that the quantitative objectives estab­
lished by States within regional strategies had been reached 
as a whole and in some cases even surpassed. Those 
policies for the development of education met not only the 
need for developing human resources but also the deep 
aspirations of the masses who claimed access to education 
as a fundamental right of the human being. The pressure 
exerted on Governments in that direction had made the 
democratization of education an irreversible movement. In 
the majority of countries, however, such policies of 
expansion had reached the limits of economic possibilities. 
At the same time, analysis of existing educational systems 
showed serious deficiencies if the heavy student fall-out 
during study on the one hand and the unemployment of 
large numbers of young graduates on the other wa!'> taken 
into consideration. Those three factors ~· a moral impera· 
tive which had become a political requirement, the limi­
tations of economic possibilities and the deficiencies of the 
system on which the regional conferences had been 
categorical, summarized what had been called "the edu· 
cational crisis". It was also perhaps a salutary crisis, that 
would make it necessary to reconsider the fundamental 
ideas of the problem and to undertake a systematic revision 
of existing systems. That revision should be concerned with 
the content and objectives of education and not only with 
the resources and administrative machinery. Furthermore, 
at their Third Regional Conference in Singapore, the Asian 
ministers ·>f education and those responsible for economic 
planning had expressed themselves strongly in favour of a 
policy of innovation, which appeared to then, as the only 
means of restoring education to its fundamental role of 
imprnving the quality of life. 

34. In the sphere of science. the policie.) of Governments 
showed two marked trends. The first was the growing 
importance accorded to international scientific co-

·------------~-----------------------

operation enterprises of a multidisciplinary nature and of 
wide scope, such as the programmes of IOC, the Inter­
national Hydrological Decade, the World Science Infor­
mation System (UNISJST), Man and the Biosphere, and the 
international geological correlation network which 
UNESCO was co-ordinating after having launched them 
with the assistance of competent non-governmental organ­
izations and in close collaboration with other agencies of 
the United Nations system. The developed countries were 
playing a leading role in the planning and implementation 
of those programmes but the developing countries were also 
concerned and hoped to play an increasing part. UNESCO 
was making every effort to assist them, particularly in 
training specialists, and hoped that Member States would be 
able to benefit from more favourable arrangements on the 
part of international sources of financing in that respect, 
particularly UNDP. 

35. Another trend was an increasingly clear understanding 
on the part of the developing countries of the fundamental 
importance of the introduction of science for internal 
development and a growing determination, despite inad­
equate resources, to pursue a long-term policy to that end, 
together with an intensification of the transfer of tech­
nology for short-term economic purposes. That was a 
source of satisfaction for UNESCO which, since the United 
Nations Conference on the Application of Science and 
Technology for the Benefit of the Less Developed Areas 
(1963), had constantly drawn attention to those needs. 
UNESCO was making every effort to assist its member 
States with all the means at its disposal both M the 
governmental level (scientific policies) and at ~l1e level of 
the population (education and information). 

36. Lastly, the most marked change in the policy of 
States had undoubtedly been in the sphere of culture. The 
Intergovernmental Conference on Institutional, Adminis­
trative and Financial Aspects of Cultural Policies organized 
by UNESCO at Venice in August-September 1970 had been 
noteworthy on the one hand because it had adopted the 
concept of cultural developtLmt as a part of development 
as a whole and as a human right and, on the other hand, 
because Governments had recognized their responsibilities in 
both those directions without in any way sanctioning 
unwarranted interference in creative or critical freedom, 
which was a principle of all culture. The UNESCO General 
Conference had adopted the conclusions and recommen­
dations of the Venice conference, which it considered 
important for the Organization's progniinme. The intro­
duction of the cultural aspect into development policies 
was an essential trend because the cultural values men held 
were what ultimately determined their choices. Thus, only 
culture could provide answers with real meaning both for 
the individual and for society to the question: Why should 
there be growth'? It would be interesting to note how those 
general directions would take specific form in the various 
areas of the world. There was every reason to think that 
they would assert themselves, despite the differences of 
emphasis, since in the majority of developed countries and 
in the new States of Asia and Africa cultural policy was an 
essential element in acquiring and asserting a national 
personality. 



56 Economic and Social Council - Fifty-first session 

37. In the framework of co-operation with Governments. 
UNESCO firmly supported the General Assembly resol­
ution which provided that the public aid given by industri· 
alized countries to the developing countries should rep· 
resent 1 per cent of their GNP (resolution 2626 (XXV), 
paragraph 42 of the Strategy). Recourse to the various 
sources of funds '" · regular budgets, voluntary contributions 
to joint funds and special trust funds ought to give 
international co-operation available resources at least equal 
to the minimum required for efforts to be effective. That 
was unfortunately not always the case, particularly since 
inflation offset a large part of the contributions of States. 
UNESCO was aware that the resources of international 
organizations would always be limited, but their possi· 
bilities were qualitative rather than quantitative, their 
means of action being ideas rather than money. That was 
why UNESCO attached the greatest importance to co· 
operation with its member States for the study of problems 
connected with a determination of the options which 
governed national policies. Intergovernmental, international 
and regional meetings which it organized periodically in the 
different sectors of its competence were useful instruments 
for clarifying such problems and outlining strategies that 
could guide States in drawing up their national plans. The 
International Commission on the Development of Edu· 
catio .1 would have the two-fold task of diagnosing th.:J 
causes of the world crisis in education and proposing a 
series of strategies ror the expansion and renewal of 
education. 

38. Likewise, country programming had opened up new 
perspectives which in the sectors within UNESCO's com· 
petence went beyond the framework of programming of 
UNDP and IBRD assistance or even the concept of aid 
itself. The purpose of the dialogue between the national 
authorities and the services of the Organization was to 
highlight the options open to Governments with a view to 
making optimum use of national resources. Be had been 
most favourably impressed by the first programming efforts 
made in certain Latin American and Asian countries and 
was -:onvinced that that was the most effective way for the 
Organization to proceed. He hoped that the dialogue, and 
UNESCO's participation in research and the determination 
of policies of States, would not be limited to developing 
countries, in which concern with assistance was always an 
influential factor, but would also extend to developed 
countries, however powerful. UNESCO was more than an 
assistance organization; it was also an organization for the 
exchange of information, collective thought, joint enter­
prise and international standardization, whose services were 
offered to all. The rich and developed countries could thus 
have the same recourse to it as others, not only for the 
problems which formed the subject of the great scientific 
co-operation programmes he had mentioned, but also for 
their own particular problems. 

39. For example. it would be impossible to imagine an 
international action against the growing use of drugs 
other than prohibition or suppression, which would not 
concern UNESCO · if the developed countries, where the 
problem was most acute, refused to take part in the 
dialogue, bet:ause recourse to drugs was precisely a protest 

against a rejected society. The programme of European 
co-operation undertaken by UNESCO some years before 
offered interesting possibilities to the industrialized coun­
tries for such discussion and co-operation on the policies of 
States, as well as opportunities for joint efforts directed 
towards peace and the removal of tension. 
40. In conclusion, it was obvious that the problems of the 
Second Development Decade had a different aspect from 
those of the first Decade. To an increasing extent develop­
ment meant change, and concern with growth was magni­
fied by an anxious questioning of its ultimate purpose. At 
the same time, the political picture was changing and it 
appeared that the doors of history were ready to open on 
new destinies. The international community might soon be 
confronted with problems that called for collective nego· 
tiating bodies with great capacities of intelligence, inven­
tiveness and courage at their disposal; the Economic and 
Social Council could be one of those bodies and would thus 
do well to re-examine its organization and methods with a 
view to preparing for new tasks. In the current year, in 
which UNESCO was to celebrate its twenty-fifth anniver­
sary, it wished to offer the Council its full co-operation to 
that end. 

41. Mr. ODERO-JOWI (Kenya) said that nt the beginning 
of the 1970s, humanity and the United Nations must do 
everything possible to satisfy the aspirations for peace, 
prosperity and dignity of all mankind. It was encouraging 
that at such a crucial moment an international manifesto 
for development and co-operation was available: the Inter­
national Development Strategy for the Second United 
Nations Development Decade. If the peoples of the world 
could co-operate, they would achieve the goals which they 
had set themselves, for the supreme good of all mankind. 
42. A lot had been said about the need for the developed 
countries to increase their aid and technical assistance to 
developing countries, but very little attention had been paid 
to the ever-growing international currency crisis. That crisis 
had already lasted for three years and it was imperative that 
a solution should be found. The hasic weakness of the 
current international mnnctury system was that the major 
reserve currencies were either overvalued, or undervalued. 
His delegation intended to introduce, at the present session. 
a resolution aimed at remedying that situation. 
43. International trade was another field which called for 
constructive co-operation. From the point of view of the 
developing countries, perhaps the most notable feature of 
that trade in the period 1969· l 970 had been the high rate 
of growth, even though the economy of the United States 
of America had been passing through a p~riod of stagnation 
and inflationary pressures. It was interesting to note that in 
the past ten years the volume of :\.fri,~an exports, for 
eJ~ample, had increased by about 100 per cent, but that the 
buying power represented by those exports had remained 
the same. In other words, the export effort of the African 
continent had been to no avail. 
44. Th~ persistent instability of the reserve currencies, 
which often led to devaluation or revaluation, posed a 
serious problem. Devaluation, for instance, resulted in the 
depreciation of the developing countries' reserves held in 



1779th meeting ~ 8 July 1971 57 

those currencies, without any compensation. It also 
reduced the value of the developing countries' exports to 
countries which had devalued. Revaluation, on the other 
hand, aggravated the disequilibrium of the developing 
countries' balance of payments. A realistic solution to the 
current monetary crisis should therefore be sought, and the 
Council seemed the most appropriate organ for that 
purpose. What was lacking at the present time was the 
political will to take appropriate action. Ilis delegation 
therefore appealed to all delegations to display the necess­
ary spirit of co-operation and goodwill. 

45. Kenya was prepared to play its part in helping to 
achieve the goals and objectives of the Second Development 
Decade. It was ready to create a favourable climate for the 
inflow of private capital and would mobilize its resources 
and its people with a view to meeting national development 
needs. The Government had embarked on a policy of rural 
development and massive land reforms, and was concerned 
moreover to create amployment for the rural population 
and increase the income of that population. 

46. The Council was to take a decision concerning the 
method of reviewing and appraising the progress achieved in 
the Second Development Decade. Ilis delegation was in full 
agreement with the proposal that the activities of the 
international community and of States Members of the 
United Nations in that Decade should be reviewed regularly 
at the national, sectoral, regional and international levels. 
An appropriate body for that purpose should be set up as 
soon as possible and it should be given ample time to work 
out its methodology and strategy for review. 

47. In pursuing the objectives of peace, prosperity and 
human dignity for all mankind, it must be remembered that 
the various countries had not all reached the same level of 
development. Because of differences in natural resources, 
geographical location or in historical background, some 
developing ·countries had been unable to make full use of 
their resources or to share in the benefits accruing from the 
growth of the world economy. The United Nations General 
Assembly had recorded its awareness of that situation in its 
resolutions 2564 (XXIV) and 2724 (XXV). 
48. The signatory countries of the Treaty for East African 
Co-operation had also tackled that particular problem. The 
Presidents of Uganda, Tanzania and Kenya had introduced 
the necessary measures to harmonize the industrial and 
commercial development of those three countries. Similar 
action was perhaps desirable at the international level in 
order to cope with the problems of countries which were 
classified among the least developed of the developing 
countries. 

49. His delegation approved of the criteria adopted by the 
Secretariat for identifying such countries (E/4990, 
chap. II). According to those criteria, a country or a group 
of countries were regarded as belonging to the category of 
the least developed among the developing countries if their 
per capita GOP did not exceed $100, if the literacy rate of 
the school-age population of fifteen years and over was not 
more than 20 per cent and if the share of manufactures in 
the GOP did not exceed 10 per cent. In his delegation's 
view, those quantities could not be static, as demographic 

and social fa, tors changed rapidly in developing countries. 
Also, it sl11.mld not be forgotten that some developing 
countries were land-locked a fact which in itself 
constituted a serious obstacle to their development. 
According to his delegation, the three criteria adopted for 
determining whether a country belonged to the category of 
the least developed among developing countries were 
inadequate. The question of political climate and the will to 
co-operate were factors of vital account in seeking to help 
those countries overcome their difficulties. The United 
Nations should therefore carry out a careful study of that 
question. 

SO. Mr. SZARKA (Hungary) said that, although there had 
been a marked loss of momentum in the world economy in 
1970, the over-all figures indicated that world production 
and world trade had expanded rather dynamically. 
51. In the developed market economies, the total output 
of goods and services had increased by less than 3 per cent 
between 1969 and 1970; in the developing countries GDP 
had risen by more than 5 per cent, while in the socialist 
countries of eastern Europe it had reached 7.7 per cent. 
The decline in the rate of increase of total world pro­
duction therefore seemed to be due to the poor perform­
ance of the capitalist countries. In the developed capitalist 
countries the inflationary tendencies had continued and 
even accelerated, leading to serious consequences in some 
of them. The slowdown in production had not been 
uniform, however, and economic growth had been quite 
vigorous in the developing countries in 1970. In fact the 5 
per cent growth rate they had attained was the target set 
for the First Development Decade. 
52. In the socialist countries of eastern Europe national 
income had continued to rise in 1970 at rates similar to 
those of 1969. The rate of industrial expansion had been 
maintained at about 8.3 per cent a year throughout the 
1960s. Despite some difficulties in agriculture, the average 
growth of agricultural output had been much higher 
between 1966 and 1970 than in the preceding years. 
53. During the period under rev~ew co-operation among 
the member countries of CMEA had increased. All the 
countnes had concluded trade agreements for the period 
1971·1 <)75 and the International Investment Bank had 
begun operations in January 1971. 
54. Hungary had successfully completed its tllird five-year 
plan in the previous year. Its national income growth rate 
had averaged about 6.8 per cent a year. Industrial pro· 
duction had increased by 34 per cent and the agricultural 
output growth rate had averaged about 3 per cent a year. 
55. The Hungarian economy had improved significantly 
over the past three years as a result of economic manage· 
ment reform. The socialist planning system had been 
improved and better co-ordination had been achieved 
between all the relevant economic sectors. One of the basic 
ideas underlying the reform was that economic develop· 
ment should be more organically linked to the use of 
inten'lational economic possibilities. Hungary would natu­
rally increase its co-operation with other CMEA member 
countries, but also wished to maintain economic relations 
with all countries on the basis of mutual benefit. 



58 Economic and Social Council -· Fifty·first session 

56. In accordance with section II of resolution 15 (II) 
adopted by the United Nations Conference on Trade and 
Development at its second session, 5 the Hungarian Govern· 
ment had adopted the necessary measures to expand its 
trade with the developing countries and to diversify the 
structure and geographical distribution of that trade. 

57. The documents before the Council indicated that the 
social situation in the world was far from satisfactory and 
much remained to be done in that field. In 1971 the world 
was faced with a new tragic situation whose magnitude and 
gravity had aroused the concern of the entire international 
community. His delegation considered that the question 
should be dealt with properly under item 9 of the agenda. 
A solution had to be found to alleviate the suffering of 
millions of people, and the parties concerned must find a 
satisfactory solution with the help of the international 
community. 
58. Reverting to the economic situation, he pointed out 
that trade in general was the most rapidly developing 
branch of the world economy. He hoped that the third 
session of th~ United Nations Conference on Trade and 
Development would help, not only to improve the con· 
ditions for international trade, but also to create a more 
propitious climate for international economic co-operation. 

59. International trade was the basic fomt of economic 
relations between socialist and capitalist countries. His 
delegation attached great importance to that question 
because East-West trade accounted for an important part of 
the expansion of international trade. However, the volume 
of East-West trade was still small compared with total W{Jrld 
trade because it still encountered obstacles. The quantitat· 
ive restrictions imposed by western countries on imports 
from socialist countries were a major obstacle. Those 
restrictions were discriminatory, since they applied only to 
certain countries or groups of countries, and violated the 
principle of most-favoured-nation treatment. The growth of 
East-West trade was also greatly hindered by the protec­
tionist measures applied by certain Western European 
countries to the agricultural exports of the socialist 
countries. At the same time, however, some factors 
favourably influenced East-West trade for example the 
system of long-term intergovernmental agreements which 
ensured a more balanced distribution of trade over a longer 
period. 
60. The structure of East-West trade sh1-'uld also be 
improved. While the structure of western expdrts to CMEA 
member countries was similar to that of their foreign trade 
in general, the same could not be said of the structure of 
exports from the socialist countries. 

61. The scope for economic co-operation between coun­
tries with different economic and social systems was not of 
course confined to trade. There were also exchanges of 
technical information, services and technical co-operation, 
which played an important part in economic relations 

5 See Proceedings of the United Nations Conference 011 Trade 
ami De~·elopmem, Second Session, vol. I and C:orr.l and 3 and 
Add.l-2, Report and Amzexes (United Nations publication, Sales 
No.: F.68.li.D.14>. annex 1, p. 32. 

between the socialist countries and western and developing 
countries. 
62. Another important feature of world economic devel· 
opment was economic integration. The degree of inte· 
gration was more advanced in the economically more 
developet1 countries. EEC, for example, had great economic 
strength and wus developing rapidly and attracting other 
western European countries. It therefore would be useful if 
the enlarged Common Market followed a more outward· 
looking economic policy. 
63. Economic co-operation within the framework of 
C'MEA hud also been a very important factor in the rapid 
development of the socialist countries. Economic groupings 
in Europe should not develop in isolation from one 
another, but on the contrary should broaden their external 
relations in such a way as to promote all-European 
economic co-operation. It was necessary, not only to 
broaden existing bilat<:1\ll relations, but also to explore the 
possibility of establishing multilateral relations between the 
Governments of all European States. It was therefore 
deplorable that one of the industrially most developed 
countries of Europe, the German Democratic Republic, had 
so far been prevented from taking its rightful place in the 
United Nations and its working bodies. It would be 
inconceivable to attempt to solve all-European problems in 
the absence of such a highly developed country. 
64. Referring to the Second Development Decade, he said 
Hungary hud always stressed the importance of improving 
living conditions in developing countries and had devoted 
special attention to United Nations work in that field. At 
the twenty-fifth session of the General Assembly the 
Hungarian delegation had taken an active part in the 
preparation of the International Development Strategy. It 
had spared no effort to ensure that the developing countries 
would receive, through the United Nations, the most 
effective assistance possible. 
65. Sympathizing with the wish of the developing coun· 
tries to have certain sufeguards with respect to the 
realization of the objectives of the Strategy and the 
strengthening of their economic independence, his del­
egation was in favour of establishing a system designed to 
serve those aims. A systematic review and appraisal of the 
implementation of the measures recommended in General 
Assembly resolution 2626 (XXV) would be an important 
factor in the attainment of the objective:; of the Strategy. 
The Economic and Social Council would be the most 
appropriate body to carry out that appraisal. It had, 
moreover, expressed its readiness to assume that role in its 
resolution 1 556 B (XLIX). 
66. His delegation had already expressed its views on the 
improvement of the Council's work, but was ready to 
continue the consideration of that subject in the hope that 
the role and functioning of the Council could be strength· 
cned. 

67. Mr. ZAKARIA (Malaysia) shared the view expressed 
by other representatives that the Economic and Social 
Council was at a turning-point in its history. At the present 
session the Council could assess the degree to which the 





60 Economic and Social Council - Fifty-first session 

76. Regarding over-all review and appraisal, he believed 
that the forum for substantive discussions on the subject 
should be the Economic and Social Council, which, under 
the Charter, was the central co-ordinating body in the 
economic and social field. In that connexion it would he 
well to enlarge the membership of the Council to accom· 
modate a sufficient number of countries representing 
divergent interests. Such an enlargement was also justified 
by the increased role of the Council as a policy-making 
body. lie hoped that a positive step in that direction would 
be taken at the present session. Enlargement of the Council 
might take several years, since the Charter would have to be 
amended, but as a first step it might be possible to allow a 
substantial number of countries which were not members 
of the Council to be represented on a subsidiary body 
which would assist the Council in its task of review and 
appraisal. 
77. On the same subJect of how to improve the organ­
ization of the Council's work, he believed that at present 
the Council was overburdened by questions of a highly 
technical character; it should concentrate its attention on 
those specific aspects which required immediate decisions 
on its part. In addition, the Council could select for each of 
its summer sessions some question concerning the world 
economic and social situation on which to concentrate the 
general discussion. 
78. He then briefly outlined the recent efforts of his 
Government in the field of trade and development. Japan 
had announced that it would endeavour to attain the target 
of 1 per cent of the GNP for aid to the developing countries 
by 1975. In 1970, net financial resource transfers from 
Japan to the developing countries had reached $1,824 
million, representing an increase of 44.4 per cent over 
1969; that figure represented 0.93 per cent of Japan's GNP. 
In the field of trade, the Japanese Government was 
preparing to put into effect on 1 August 1971 a system of 
preferences in favour of exports of developing countries. It 
had decided to reduce the number of products subject to 
quantitative restrictions from sixty to forty by the end of 
September, and would thereafter make further efforts 
towards liberalization of trade. 

79. Mrs. ALAMI (Women's International Democratic 
Federation), speaking at the invitation of the President, 
stressed the importance of the consideration the Council 
would give to International Development Strategy 
objectives. 
80. From the daily experience of its affiliated organ­
izations, it was clear to the Women's International Demo· 
cratic Federation (WIDF) that the conditions created by 
colonialism, fascism, neo-colonialism and the aftermath of 
feudalism which still affected many countries had particu· 
larly serious repercussions on the life of women and 
children. That impression had been confirmed at first hand 
by a study tour which Mrs. Hugel, Secretary General of 
WIDF, had made in the context of WIDF's contribution to 
the Intemational Year for Action to Combat Racism and 
Racial Discrimination, visiting women's organizations in ten 
African countries, especially during her 24-day stay in the 
part~: of Angola which had been liberated by the Angola 

People's Liberation Movement, at the invitation of the 
Organization of Angolcse Women (affiliated to WIDF). In 
the liberated areas, Angolese women benefited from econ· 
omic and social measures which were fundamentally trans· 
forming their condition: literucy campaigns, mass vacci· 
nation, agricultural producers' co-operatives managed for 
the most part by women, abolition of the humiliating 
dowry system, etc. WIDF would supply a detailed report on 
Mrs. Hugel's tour to the Commission on the Status of 
Women, the Commission on Human Rights and UNESCO. 
Those examples would illustrate the basic position of 
WIDF, which regarded the emancipation of women as 
closely bound up with the fundamental problems of 
national independence, social justice, peace and economic 
and political development. 
81. In view of the stress laid on the utilization of human 
resources in the Second Development Decade, care must be 
taken to see that women were able fully to ptUticipate in 
the solution of economic and social development problems. 
In particular, in very many countries, it was essential to put 
right the unjust distribution of the fruits of the labour of a 
majority of men and women exploited by a selfish 
minority. The right to work, vocational training free from 
any discrimination, education, medical assistance (es­
pecially for mothers and children), nutrition and improved 
housing were fields in which action should be undertaken as 
a matter of urgency. A special effort must be made in that 
regard to eliminate the backwardness due to colonialism. 
82. Development should no longer be merely economic; it 
must also be social development. In that connexion, WIDF 
had noted with satisfacthm the recommendations of the 
Meeting of Experts on Social Policy and Planning (Stock­
holm, 1969),6 namely that no substantial fraction of the 
population should be left aside by the development process, 
the active participation of large sectors of the population 
should be ensured, the important principle of social 
equality recognized, and the development of the human 
potential given priority, especially in the case of children. 
WIDF likewise supported the general objectives of the 
Second Development Decade as regards women, which had 
been approved at the twenty-third session of thl! Com­
mission on the Status of Women (General Assembly 
resolution 2716 [XXV]): ratification of the conventions 
relating to the status of women, and the implementation of 
those conventions; elimination of illiteracy; equal access to 
all levels of education; maternity protection; medical 
protection, etc. The United Nations should s1!ggest to 
planners that adequate resources should be set aside for the 
achievement of those objectives. 

83. The experience of women in socialist countries, where 
exploitation had been abolished, showed convincingly the 
contribution that women could make to the development 
of society. In that perspective, WIDF, in accordance with 
the view of its affiliated organizations, proposed that there 
should be a proportional number of women members on 
national development committees and that women's organ­
izations should be consulted; those committeed should 
investigate the progress made towards achievement of the 

6 See E/CN.S/445 and Corr.l. 



1779th meeting- 8 July 1971 61 

objectives approved by the Commission on the Status of 
Women; the principle.; of the Declaration on the Elimin· 
ation of Discrimination against Women should be taken 
fully into consideration in any action for economic 
development and in the implementation of conventions of 
the United Nations and its specialized agencies of concern 
to women, especially the ILO Conventions Nos. 100, 103 
and 111. 

84. The PRESIDENT proposed that, in ac,;ordance with 
the desire expressed by several delegathms, the High 
Commissioner for Refugees should make a statement, in his 
capacity as focal point for aid to Pakistan refugees in India, 
during the plenary meeting on Friday morning, 16 July. 

It was so decided. 

The meeting rose at 6 p.m. 




